INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Elizabeth L. White, Esquire Wm. J. Sheppard, Esquire Cyra C. O'Daniel, Esquire SHEPPARD AND WHITE, P.A. 215 Washington Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 356-9661

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, H. W. Jones, will be referred to herein as the "petitioner" or "Mr. Jones." The respondent, Office of the Sheriff, will be referred to as "respondent" or the "Office of the Sheriff." References to the Record on Appeal will be designated "R.", followed by the appropriate page numbers out in brackets.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This brief is addressed to the merits of a petition invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to hear a question certified by the First District Court of Appeal as being of great public importance. The certified question,

WHEN A PARTY SEEKS APPELLATE REVIEW OF A NON-APPEALABLE ORDER, AND ASSUMING THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IS TIMELY FILED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNNAL, MUST THE NOTICE OF APPEAL BE FILED IN THE APPELLATE COURT WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RENDITION OF THE ORDER IN ORDER FOR THE APPELLATE COURT TO HAVE JURISDICTION TO TREAT THE NOTICE AS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI?

was certified in the instant case by the First District Court of Appeal. (See Appendix).

This question arose after the petitioner filed a notice of appeal in the Duval County Circuit Court of that court's order affirming a Civil Service Board recommendation of termination of the petitioner from his employment with the respondent, the Office of the Sheriff [R. 1-23, 40, Tr. 147-48]. The notice of appeal was filed in the office of the clerk of the circuit court on May 10, 1988, from an order rendered by the circuit court on April 13, 1988. On Monday, May 16, 1988, the first day the court was open to conduct its business after the expiration of the 30-day limit, a copy of the notice of appeal was received by the First District Court of Appeal. H.W. Jones v. Office of the Sheriff, ___ So.2d ___, 13 FLW 2255 (Fla. 1st DCA, October 4, 1988).

Thereafter, petitioner filed a motion requesting the First District to construe the notice of appeal and initial brief as a petition for writ of certiorari. <u>Id</u>. This request was granted but the court <u>sua sponte</u> denied the petition for writ of certiorari as untimely filed. <u>Id</u>. The First District then certified the instant question for review by this Court. <u>Id</u>.

Petitioner then filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with the Florida Supreme Court, bringing the instant question before this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner's notice of appeal was timely filed in the circuit court, and the petition for writ of certiorari relates back to that filing under the reasoning of Ceslow v. Board of County Commissioners, Palm Beach County, 428 So.2d 701 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and was therefore not untimely. Further, the petition for writ of certiorari is not barred as being filed in the wrong court, since Fla. R. App. P. 9.040(c) and (d) and subsequent committee notes provide that pleadings filed in a court without jurisdiction shall be treated as if correctly filed.

ARGUMENT

THE NOTICE OF APPEAL WAS A TIMELY FILED PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

The instant case presents the question certified as to great public importance by the First District Court of Appeal. H.W. Jones v. Office of the Sheriff, ___ So.2d ___, 13 FLW 2255 (Fla. 1st DCA, October 4, 1988). The petitioner requests compliance with the long standing practice, existing under Florida appellate rule, statute, and caselaw, of treating the Notice of Appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari, which should not be barred by technical failure to comply with the 30-day time limit for filing, since a notice of appeal was timely filed in the circuit court.

Florida caselaw has long empowered appellate courts to treat a notice of appeal as a petition for certiorari. In Bridges v.williamson, 440 So.2d 400 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the court held that district courts of appeal have the discretion to treat an improperly filed appeal as a petition for a writ of certiorari. The case involved an order to dismiss a claim with leave to amend the complaint to allege compliance with technical standards. Id. The court elected to treat the appeal as if filed in proper form and proceeded to the merits of the claim. Id. Therefore, if an appellant follows an incorrect or inappropriate procedure, the appeal will not be barred due to technical defects of form or even in the type of relief sought.

Indeed, the Fourth District has allowed a petition for writ of certiorari to relate back to the date of circuit court filing

of an improvidently taken notice of appeal. In Ceslow v. Board of County Commissioners, Palm Beach County, 428 So.2d 701 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), the court held that under Florida statute and rule, a notice of appeal and associated record may be treated as a petition for writ of certiorari for the purpose of invoking the court's jurisdiction, and thereafter notice may be amended into a Ceslow involved a petition for writ of formal petition. Iđ. certiorari, seeking to reverse a circuit court's order dismissal of an earlier petition for writ of certiorari. writ to the circuit court was filed after the petitioner had filed a timely notice of appeal, which was dismissed when the court directed the petitioner to file a writ of certiorari Id. The circuit court then denied the writ as untimely instead. filed, since it was filed after the expiration of the time limit. Id.

On appeal to the district court, it held that the petition related back to the date of the original notice of appeal, and therefore held the petition as timely filed, and instructed the lower court to reach the merits of the petitioner's claim. Id. The court allowed the petitioner's subsequently filed petition to be considered as an amended petition for writ of certiorari. Id. at 702. The court stated that any other result would be inequitable:

The notice and record may be treated as a petition for purposes of invoking the court's jurisdiction. Thereafter the notice may be amended into a formal content of the petition and issue a show cause order if warranted. To allow the court to assess the content of

the unamended notice and record would force the court to dismiss every notice as insufficient to support an order to show cause. Such an illogical and harsh result cannot be the intended effect of this statute whose obvious purpose is to provide a remedy for those who have mistakenly followed the wrong appellate procedure.

Id. at 703. Thus, the court declined to foreclose the petitioner from her remedy by application of a rigid time limit. The court found actual notice of appeal by the contents of the notice of appeal, thereby placing the respondent on notice of the appeal and preventing harmful prejudice. Id. at 702.

Identically, in the instant case, the petitioner filed timely notice of appeal in the circuit court from whose order relief was sought, and upon learning that the method of review was improper, filed a petition to convert the notice of appeal to a petition for writ of certiorari. The fact that the District Court of Appeal did not receive the notice of appeal should not result in an inequitable forfeiture of the remedy sought, under the <u>Ceslow</u> reasoning, since date of the petition for certiorari should relate back to the filing date of the notice of appeal.

Further, the clerk of the circuit court was under a duty to immediately transmit the notice and record of appeal where the circuit court had no jurisdiction. In <u>Grove Press v. State</u>, 152 So.2d 177 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963), the court adopted a policy that where the jurisdiction is questionable, an order of transfer should be made in order that the Supreme Court may have early and timely opportunity to determine the question of its jurisdiction. 152 So.2d at 178. The court created this policy so that the

"appeal may be heard and decided expeditiously in the proper appellate forum." <a>Id.

By analogy, where the circuit court has doubtful jurisdiction over an appeal, as in the instant case where a petition for certiorari was the proper method of proceeding, and where the district court had the ability to treat such appeal as a petition for certiorari, the clerk should have transmitted the appeal to afford the District Court an "early and timely" opportunity to hear the appellant's claim. Instead, a prejudicial lapse occurred, which the District Court interpreted as a possible bar to its ability to hear the appeal.

In City of Miami Beach v. O'Hara, 166 So.2d 500 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966), the court acknowledged its discretion to overlook technical errors in an appeal, treating a non-appealable order as appealable and regarding the notice of appeal as a petition for certiorari. Id. at 600. In that case, the court held that the order from which the appellant had appealed was a non-final order, and therefore not subject to review. Id. The court nonetheless reached the merits of the appeal, and treated the notice of appeal as a petition for certiorari. Id. The court provided the relief asked for in the notice of appeal by reversing the trial court's order allowing the appellee to amend the original complaint after trial, finding this order departure from the "essential requirements of the law." Id.

Similarly, in the instant case, a dismissal of the appeal in the instant case for an alleged technical defect, raised sua sponte by the First District, would allow fundamental errors in the underlying litigation to stand, to the profound prejudice of the petitioner. The technical defect of \underline{de} $\underline{minimis}$ untimeliness would work the inequitable result of a total bar to appellant's assertion of his right to an appeal in the instant matter. A technical delay of one day where the appeal was timely filed but transmitted by the circuit court six days later is a technical deficiency similar to the O'Hara appellant's attempt to appeal a non-appealable order, particularly where, as here, the District Court has demonstrated its willingness to proceed to the merits of petitioner's claims. The fact that the instant question was certified to this Court indicates the lower court's discomfort with the arbitrary bar to the right of appeal presented by a rigid application of the 30-day rule, where a petitioner has complied in a good faith, but mistaken, interpretation of the appellate procedure rules.

In <u>City of Fort Lauderdale v. Couts</u>, 239 So.2d 874 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970), the court held that although Florida circuit courts have final appellate jurisdiction of all cases arising in municipal courts, the district courts of appeal could take an appeal from such a court, even though a writ of certiorari would have been the only possible course of proceeding. <u>Id</u>. The court acknowledged that the Florida Constitution provided the route of appeal from state municipal courts, with circuit courts having the only jurisdiction for such claims. The court cited §59.45, Fla. Stat. (1987), for the proposition that when the remedy might

have been more properly sought by certiorari, a notice of appeal and the record thereon may be regarded as a petition for certiorari. <u>Id</u>. The court then reached the merits of the claim. Id.

Accordingly, since the motion to consider the notice of appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari was granted in the instant case, and the <u>Ceslow</u> holding allows the filing to relate back to the date of original filing of notice of appeal, the petitioner has perfected his right for the First District's consideration of the petition for writ of certiorari. This practice is consistent with the general provisions of the appellate rules, specifically Fla.R.App.P. 9.040(c) and (d), which provide:

- (c) Remedy. If a party seeks an improper remedy, the cause shall be treated as if the proper remedy had been sought; provided that it shall not be the responsibility of the court to seek the proper remedy.
- (d) Amendment. At any time in the interest of justice, the court may permit any part of the proceeding to be amended so that it may be disposed of on the merits. In the absence of amendment, the court may disregard any procedural defect that does not adversely affect the substantial rights of the parties. (emphasis added).

In the commentary to these rules, the Committee Notes state:

Under these provisions a party will not automatically have his case dismissed because he seeks an improper remedy or invokes the jurisdiction of the wrong court. The court must instead treat the case as if the proper remedy had been sought and transfer it to the court having jurisdiction. All filings in the case have the same effect as though originally filed in the court to which transfer is made.

Committee Notes to Fla.R.App.P. 9.040, 1977 Revision (1988). These notes state the general applicability of the committee's interpretations to the other provisions in the appellate rules, thereby stating the general policy provisions of all the rules. Allowing the petitioner's appeal to be heard is consistent with the policies of fairness and the general abhorrence of forfeiture of a party's right to appeal. The relief sought must therefore be granted.

Conversely, the case relied upon by the district court in the instant case, Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 518 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), contains no direct authority nor any policy reasons for its holding denying jurisdiction. Id. at 411. District certified the question to this First acknowledging the lack of binding precedent and the possible conflict of its holding with Fla.R.App.P. 9.040(c). Id. the Johnson case, and its progeny, $\frac{1}{2}$ have been decided in the absence of quiding caselaw, the equities of an absolute bar to proceeding should be considered. The policy directives addressed in the committee notes to the appellate rules provide guidance in the absence of express caselaw. Therefore, the broad discretion of appellate courts to override the narrower scope of specific rules should be used to effectuate the interests of fairness and prevention of forfeiture of the right appeal.

^{1/} Gilinas v. City of South Miami, 522 So.2d 104 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Paul v. City of Miami Beach, 519 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Spector v. Trans World Airlines, 523 So.2d 704 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should invoke its certiorari jurisdiction and reverse the decision of the First District Court of appeals below.