H.W. JONES,

Petitioner,

VS.

OFFICE OF THE SHERIFF,

Respondent.

Answer Brief of Respondent

JAMES L. HARRISON GENERAL COUNSEL

BRUCE PAGE ASSISTANT COUNSEL

715 Towncentre 421 West Church Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 904/630-4900

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

CONTENTS AND TABLE OF CITATIONS

Cases	<u>.</u>	rage
Johnson v. Citizer	ns State Bank, 578 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)	. 1
Paul v. City of Mi (Fla. 3d DCA 19	iami Beach, 519 So.2d 1150	. 1
Spector v. TWA, 5	523 So.2d 704, (Fla. 4th DCA)	. 1
Stieglitz v. City C 525 So.2d 438 (F	Commission, City of South Miami, Fla. 3d DCA April 5, 1988)	. 1
,		
ISSUE PRESENTE	D ON CERTIFIED QUESTION	. 1

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his initial Point I, the Petitioner JOHNSON contends that the First District Court of Appeal committed error in failing to consider his "notice of appeal" as a "petition for writ of certiorari". On the contrary, the District Court assumed arguendo that Fla. App. Rule 9.100 applied and resolved this case on other grounds. As a result, there is no error as to Petitioner's Point I.

As to Petitioners' Point II, it is immaterial whether Petitioners filed the "petition" or a "notice", in order to seek review. Fla. App. Rule 9.040(c). The issue is rather, under Fla. App. Rule 9.100, an applicant for review must comply with the filing requirements of the rule and, if so, whether his failure to do so is jurisdictional. The provisions of "transfer to a court of proper jurisdiction" of Fla. App. Rule 9.040(b) have no application herein, where neither Petitioner sought review in the circuit court. Based on Southeast First National Bank of Miami and Lampkin, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative, affirm the opinions of the District Courts, and discharge the writ of certiorari issued herein.

ANK A BAKER, PA

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT REFUSE TO TREAT THE PETITIONER JOHNSON'S NOTICE OF APPEAL AS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI.

In his initial point, the Petitioner JOHNSON contends that the First District Court of Appeal "committed error" in failing to consider his Notice of Appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari. In raising this argument, Petitioner JOHNSON attempts to make manufacture an issue where one does not exist. In its opinion, the District Court did not refuse to "amend" the Petitioner's Notice to effect original proceedings in certiorari. Accordingly, there is no "error" from which the Petitioner JOHNSON may take exception under his Point I.

The practice of the First District in proceeding to review matters on their merits, rather than on the form of the petition for review, is well-established. See, e.g., Home News Publishing Company v. U-M Publishing, Inc., 246 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1DCA 1971). This practice, long accepted in the various district courts [see Hackenberg v. Artesian Pools, Inc., 440 So.2d at 475 (Fla. 5DCA 1983)], is grounded in constitutional and case law (discussed in detail in Point II herein) and embodied in Florida Appellate Rule 9.040(c).

A cursory reading of the opinion under review will reveal that the First District assumed arguendo, and never

TTORNEY AT LAW

reached, the issue of whether the "notice" should be deemed a "petition".

Before determining whether the petition, if so construed, demonstrated a preliminary basis for relief, this court sua sponte raised the issue of the timeliness of the petition. The Notice of Appeal was filed with the clerk of the tribunal on October 21, 1987, but a copy of the notice was not received by the clerk of this court until October 28, more than 30 days rendition of the order. We noted that Rule 9.100(b), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure requires the petition to be filed "with the clerk of the court deemed to have jurisdiction" and that Rule 9.100(c) requires a petition for writ of certiorari to be filed within thirty days of the date of rendition of the order sought to be reviewed.

R. S. Johnson v. Citizens State Bank, 13 F.L.W. 136 (Fla. 1DCA, Case Number 87-159, 4/5/88). The Court's numerous references to the filing and time requirements of Rule 9.100 suggest inescapably that, for the purpose of resolving certified issue. the Court in fact applied certiorari-original proceedings rule. As will be developed below, this Court's determination of the certified issue should likewise depend not the appeal-certiorari on distinction, but rather on the jurisdictional impediment resulting from Petitioner's failure to timely file his request for review with the appropriate clerk.

As to Petitioner JOHNSON'S Point I, therefore, there is no "error" upon which reversal might be based. This Court should instead consider this action based upon the

ANK A BAKER PA
TTORNEY AT LAW
PIANNA FL 32446

issue as certified by the First and Third District Courts and developed in Point II hereof.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING PETITIONER'S REQUEST FOR REVIEW, WHERE THAT REQUEST WAS NOT TIMELY FILED IN THE APPROPRIATE SITUS.

In their second Points, the Petitioners JOHNSON and PAUL attempt to re-frame the issue certified by the District Courts. As stated by the Courts, the question is:

When a party seeks appellate review of a non-appealable order, and assuming that the notice of appeal is timely filed in the lower tribunal, must the notice of appeal be filed in the appellate court within thirty days of rendition of the order in order for the appellate court to have jurisdiction to treat the notice as a petition for writ of certiorari?

In each of these consolidated cases, the party seeking "Notice of Appeal", review labeled his pleading notwithstanding that no right of appeal lay under Florida Under ordinary circumstances, Appellate Rule 9.030(b)(1). the proceedings would not have been dismissed, but could have been considered under the Court's certiorari authority. See, e.g., Hackenberg, 440 So.2d at 475. Unfortunately, each of these Petitioners failed to timely invoke that certiorari jurisdiction, by not filing his petition for

TORNEY AT LAW

review with the respective District Court Clerk within thirty days. Instead, the Petitioners erroneously filed their pleadings to invoke the jurisdiction of the District Court in the Circuit Court. After dismissal the Petitioners now ask that this Court excuse their error by carving an exception to previously-well-established jurisdictional thresholds of the District Court.

Each of the Petitioners relies on Article V Section 2(a) of the Florida Constitution and Florida Appellate Rule 9.040(b) to suggest that Rule 9.100(b) be amended to allow the filing of a petition of a writ of certiorari in an additional location (for example, the tribunal from whose order review is sought). In his analysis, the Petitioner PAUL erroneously argues that this is an instance of the filing of the wrong pleading (a "Notice of Appeal") in the "right court" (the lower tribunal). See PAUL'S Initial Brief at page 17.

Initially, it is important to note that the Petitioners have mischaracterized the import of the District Courts' holdings. What Petitioner JOHNSON sees as an invoking of the jurisdiction of the wrong court (arguably within the purview of Rule 9.040(b)) is rather an invoking of the jurisdiction of the correct court (the District Court) by the filing of his petition for review in the wrong court (the Circuit Court) [JOHNSON does not (and could not)

THE A BAKER PA

contend that his "Notice" was actually an attempt to gain review in the Circuit Court]. What Petitioner PAUL views as the "wrong pleading" (a Notice of Appeal) in the "right Court" (the Circuit Court) is instead the "wrong pleading" in the wrong court (the Circuit Court).

In fact, the distinctions raised by PAUL and JOHNSON as to the correctness of their petition for review rendered immaterial by Rule 9.040(c). Under that rule the constitutional provision that it codifies [Article V Section 2(a), requiring in part that ". . . no cause shall be dismissed because an improper remedy be sought"], it was incumbent on the District Courts below to consider petitions for review, regardless of their denomination as "notices of appeal" or "petitions for writs of certiorari". For that reason, the opinion of the First District herein properly refused to fall prey to the snares of Petitioners' analysis; instead, the Court assumed arguendo that Petitioner JOHNSON'S "notice" be dealt with under Appellate Florida Rule 9.100 (regarding certiorari proceedings). Under the requirements of Rule 9.040(c) and Article V Section 2(a), this approach was both appropriate and required. For the purpose of resolving the certified issue, it is of no legal consequence whether Petitioner's requests for review were "notices" or "petitions". mischaracterizations serve only to divert this Court's

ANK A BAKER PA TTORNEY AT LAW attention from the true issue herein, as resolved and certified by the District Court; that is, whether an applicant for original relief under Rule 9.100 must comply with the filing requirements of that rule and, if so, whether his failure to do so is jurisdictional.

As noted by the First District below, the precedent of this Court suggests that both questions be answered yes. In Southeast First National Bank of Miami v. Herin, 357 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1978), this Court held that the failure to timely file a notice of appeal (from a county court judgment to the circuit court) with the clerk of the circuit court deprived the circuit court of jurisdiction. In Southeast First National Bank, Appellant's counsel erroneously sent his Notice of Appeal to the district court clerk. This Court noted Appellant's argument [that Article V Section 2(a) required that the appeal should be allowed as filed, and transferred to the circuit court under Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d)], but nonetheless upheld the dismissal.

Seven months later, the same question was re-presented in the light of then-new Rule 9.040(b) in Lampkin-Asam v. District Court of Appeal, 364 So.2d 469 (Fla. 1978), with an identical result. Petitioner therein suggested that the 1977 revision of Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d) in Rule 9.040(b) required a departure from Southeast First National Bank. As in Southeast First National Bank, Appellant's counsel sought to

TTORNEY AT LAW

invoke the appellate powers of the circuit court by mailing his notice to the district court clerk. In reaffirming Southeast First National Bank and its predecessors, this Court expressly distinguished between an improper filing and an attempt to invoke the jurisdiction of the wrong appellate court:

The reasoning of the late Mr. Justice Drew in Southeast First National Bank, supra, ably demonstrates why Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) is inapplicable to this case:

"This rule was designed to permit the transfer of cases where the appeal is taken to the wrong appellate court. For instance, where an appeal in a bond validation proceeding is taken to the District Court of Appeal instead of to the Supreme Court, or where an appeal in a case where the death penalty has been imposed is taken to the District Court instead of the Supreme Court, where an appeal in which life in prison has been imposed is taken to this Court instead of District Court. There are also instances jurisdiction depends on whether the trial directly passed on the validity constitutionality of a statute. it Where determined that the jurisdiction of the wrong court has been invoked, the Rule, and the Constitution, as amended, provide for such transfer.

Lampkin, 364 So.2d at 470, quoting from approval from Southeast First National Bank, 357 So.2d at 717-718. This rejected contention is identical to that relied on by the Petitioners herein (see pages 8-9 of JOHNSON'S Initial Brief, and page 9 of PAUL'S Initial Brief). The Petitioners here did not erroneously seek circuit court review by their filing of a pleading in that court; each should candidly

NAK A BAKER, P.A ATTORNEY AT LAW AR ANNA FL 32446 admit that he sought relief from his district court. As in Lampkin, there is no mistaken impression that the circuit court might actually be empowered to reconsider; rather, there was only the erroneous conclusion that the avenue to further review (by the district court) required the filing of a petition or notice in the circuit court.

Furthermore, as noted by Justice Sundberg (in Lampkin at 936) and by the 1977 Revision Committee Notes, the former Rule 2.1(a)(5)(d) was amended in Florida Appellate Rule 9.040(b) to deal specifically with the holdings in Nellen v. State, 226 So.2d 354 (Fla. 1DCA 1969), and Engel v. City of North Miami, 115 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959).

It is argued Rule 2.1 was broadened in the new rules so as to protect from dismissal notices which are filed in the wrong court. We cannot agree with this contention. Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.040(b) in no way altered the meaning or effect of Rule 2.1a(5)(d) or the cases construing it except as stated in the committee notes with respect to the results reached in Nellen v. State, 226 So. 2d at 354 (Fla. 1DCA 1969), and Engel v. City of North Miami, 115 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959), which have no application here.

Lampkin, 364 So. 2d at 936. In Engel, this Court had declined to sanction the now-accepted practice of treating a petition for certiorari as a notice of appeal. In Nellen, the First District Court of Appeal dismissed a request for review of a county court order, rather than transferring the action to the circuit court. It is clear from that context

NK A BAKER PA TORNEY AT LAW RIANNA FL 32446

that neither Nellen nor Engle would have had application the certified question at bar. In this case, neither of the Petitioners sought to invoke the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court; each clearly sought review only by his respective district court. Consequently, the concept of transfer to a Court of proper jurisdiction (which was the solution refused in Nellen and modified by Rule 9.040(b)) is not applicable herein. Similarly, the rationale of Engle (that a petition for a writ of certiorari may not be a vehicle for appeal), superseded by Rule 9.040(c), is inapposite in this case; the First District Court of Appeal in fact treated Petitioner's "notice" as a "petition", but resolved the motion to dismiss on wholely-different grounds. Nellen, Engle, or the Committee Notes to the revised rule speak to the issue in this case, whether a litigant may attempt to invoke the certiorari jurisdiction of a court by filing his initial pleading in another court. A reading of the entire Committee Notes, rather than the portions quoted by Petitioners, bears out this conclusion (". . . under this rule, a petition for writ of certiorari should be treated as a notice of appeal, if timely") (emphasis supplied).

NK A BAKER PA TORNEY AT LAW Properly framed, the certified issue is not controlled by Rule 9.040(b) or (c), or affected by changes to the prior holdings of Engel and Nessen. Instead, there is simply the matter of whether Rule 9.100(b) should be revised to allow the filing of a petition with, not only "the clerk of the court deemed to have jurisdiction", but also with any other clerk of any other court. The holdings of Lampkin and Southeast First National Bank, as well as sound policy, militate against such revision.

The filing requirement provide more than the "notice" function emphasized by Petitioner PAUL (at page 11 of his Initial Brief). In addition, it is the landmark from which the Court's exercise of authority is launched. In the absence of a jurisdictional foundation for that exercise of authority, a court has no power to act. State ex rel.

Diamond Insurance Agency v. Carroll, 102 So. 2d 129, at 131 (Fla. 1958). Were a contrary result possible, parties might well seek Supreme Court review of a district court opinion by the filing of a "notice" with the Clerk of a circuit court. The creation of the exception requested by the Petitioners herein might well open a Pandora's box of mis-filings, misnomers, and necessitated transfers.

Petitioner PAUL rightly recognizes the inherent unfairness of the strict jurisdictional rule. Nothwithstanding, the sound policy, requiring precise limitations on the "window of entry" to certiorari review overrides potential concerns of inequity in individual cases. If a different rule applied, there would be little

NK A. BAKER, PA

definition to the power of a particular reviewing court to act.

Despite what might appear to be the imposition of a hardship, we are compelled to conclude under applicable rules the timely filing of a Notice of Appeal at the place required by the rules is essential to confer jurisdiction on the Appellate Court. We have on numerous occasions held in similar situations that jurisdiction could not even be conferred by consent of the parties, when the notice of appeal was not filed as required by applicable rules.

* * *

A court has no power to act in the absence of a jurisdictional foundation for the exercise of the power. The timely and proper filing of a Notice of Appeal is a jurisdictional essential to enable an appellate court to exercise its power.

Southeast First National Bank, 357 So.2d at 718.

The Respondent Citizens State Bank respectfully requests that this Court adhere to the precedent announced in <u>Lampkin</u>, <u>Southeast First National Bank</u>, and <u>Diamond Berk</u>, answer the certified question in the affirmative, and discharge the writ of certiorari.

ANK A. BAKER, P.A.
TTORNEY AT LAW
RIANNA FL 32446

CONCLUSION

The District Courts did not refuse to treat the Petitioner JOHNSON's "Notice of Appeal" as a "Petition for Writ of Certiorari". Further, the District Court did not err in dismissing Petitioner's request for review, where that request was not timely filed in the appropriate 'situs. Accordingly, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and discharge the writ of certiorari.